
 
 

 

___________________________________________________________________ 
Issued on: Tuesday, 11 July 2023 
 
Governance Services Officer for this meeting: Rachel Wright 
 01302 737662 
 
City of Doncaster Council 
 
www.doncaster.gov.uk 
 

 

 
 
Agenda 
 
 
To all Members of the 

 

CABINET 
 

Notice is given that a Meeting of the Cabinet is to be held as follows: 
  

Venue: Council Chamber, Civic Office, Waterdale, Doncaster DN1 3BU  
 
Date:  Wednesday, 19th July, 2023 
 
Time: 10.00 am 
 

 
BROADCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting is being recorded for subsequent broadcast via the Council’s 
web site. The Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act and 
images collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the 
Council’s published policy. Please be aware that by entering the meeting, you 
accept that you may be recorded and the recording used for the purpose set 
out above. 
 
Damian Allen 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
Items 
  
1. Apologies for Absence.  
 
2. To consider the extent, if any, to which the public and press are to be 

excluded from the meeting.  
 

 
3. Public Questions and Statements.   
 (A period not exceeding 20 minutes for questions and 

statements fro members of the public and Elected Members to 
the Mayor of Doncaster, Ros Jones. Questions/Statements 
should relate specifically to an item of business on the agenda 
and be limited to a maximum of 100 words. As stated within 
Executive Procedure Rule 3.3 each person will be allowed to 
submit one question/statement per meeting. A question may 
only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing, 
or by e-mail to the Governance Team no later than 5.00pm on 
Friday, 14th July 2023.  Each question or statement must give 
the name and address of the person submitting it. 
Questions/Statements should be sent to the Governance Team, 
Floor 2, Civic Office, Waterdale, Doncaster, DN1 3BU, or by email 
to Democratic.Services@doncaster.gov.uk). 

 

  
4. Declarations of Interest, if any.   
 
5. Decision Record Forms from the meeting held on 21st June 2023 for 

noting (previously circulated).  
 

 
A.     Reports where the public and press may not be excluded 
 

 
 

Key Decisions   
6. Biodiversity Net Gain and Habitat Banks.  1 - 26 
 
7. The future of the former National College for Advanced Transport and 

Infrastructure Building.  
27 - 40 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

Cabinet Members 
 
Cabinet Responsibility For: 
 
Chair – Ros Jones, Mayor of 
Doncaster 

Budget and Policy Framework 

   
Vice-Chair – Deputy Mayor 
Councillor Glyn Jones 

Housing and Business  

 
Councillor Lani-Mae Ball Portfolio Holder for Early Help, Education, Skills 

and Young People 
Councillor Nigel Ball Portfolio Holder for Public Health, Communities, 

Leisure and Culture 
Councillor Joe Blackham Portfolio Holder for Highways, Infrastructure and 

Enforcement 
Councillor Rachael Blake Portfolio Holder for Children’s Social Care and 

Equalities 
Councillor Phil Cole Portfolio Holder for Finance, Traded Services and 

Planning 
Councillor Mark Houlbrook Portfolio Holder for Sustainability and Waste 
Councillor Jane Nightingale Portfolio Holder for Corporate Resources 
Councillor Sarah Smith Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Report 
 
 

Date: 19th July 2023 

To: Members of Cabinet 

Report Title: Biodiversity Net Gain and Habitat Banks 

Relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 

Wards Affected Key Decision? 

Councillor Phil Cole, 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance, Traded Services 
and Planning  
Councillor Mark 
Houlbrook, Cabinet 
Member for Sustainability 
and Waste 

All Yes 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1. This report proposes, the arrangements for the opening of a habitat bank at Red 
House Farm on Council owned land adjacent to Sandall Beat Wood, the 
development of an acquisition strategy for land on which future Biodiversity Net 
Gain projects could be delivered and the commitment to work towards developing 
a further four habitat bank projects in the North, South, East and West of the 
Borough. 
 

EXEMPT REPORT 

2. This report is not exempt.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

3. Members of Cabinet are recommended to support the following 
recommendations: 

 

 

Topic A – Red House Farm Habitat Bank 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6.



That Cabinet: 

i) Approve the decision to setup a Habitat Bank on a Council owned area of 
land at Red House Farm adjacent to Sandall Beat Wood. 
 

ii) Agree to end the existing agricultural tenancy agreement and to pay the 
necessary compensation to the incumbent tenant and associated fees; 
 

iii) Agree to fund the initial costs of seeding the site with grass seed in 
autumn 2023  
 

iv) Delegate authority to the Director of Place and Chief Financial Officer, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Members for Sustainability and Waste and 
Finance, Traded Services and Planning, to fund the remaining project 
costs for years 1-5 (when known) subject to the production of a final layout 
for the Habitat Bank and detailed costings being produced and conditional 
on the scheme being demonstrated as viable to the market; 
 

v) Support the borrowing of up to a maximum of £1 million from the 
Environment & Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon Earmarked Reserve, to 
support Recommendations ii to iv as detailed at paras 18-19 and 25-27. 
 

vi) Agree the commencement of a tender for habitat creation and 
management of the site, following completion of an Environmental Impact 
Assessment and approval by the Forestry Commission and the terms and 
specification be delegated to the Director of Place in consultation with the 
Cabinet Members for Sustainability and Waste and Finance, Traded 
Services and Planning. 

 
vii) To delegate to Director of Place in consultation with the Cabinet Members 

for Sustainability and Waste and Finance, Traded Services and Planning 
the appointment of contractors to develop and maintain of the site.   

 
viii) To delegate to Director of Place in consultation with the Cabinet Members 

for Sustainability and Waste and Finance, Traded Services and Planning 
any decision to enter into a Conservation Covenant on the land used for 
Red House Farm Habitat Bank. 
 

ix) Create a new earmarked reserve to enable the carry forward of the 
balance of income from the sale of the units to fund costs of maintaining 
the land over the length of the scheme. 

 
x) Note future approval to agree the price per biodiversity unit will be 

undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules 
relating to Fees and Charges as detailed at paras 32-33. 

 

Topic B – Land acquisition strategy for Biodiversity Net Gain 

Page 2



xi) Support the decision to develop a land acquisition strategy for land on 
which future Biodiversity Net Gain projects could be delivered.  
 

xii) Support the decision that the Council will work to develop plans for a 
further four habitat bank projects over the next 18 months in the North, 
South, East and West of the Borough. 

 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 

 
4. The proposed Habitat Bank at Red House Farm, adjacent to Sandall Beat wood, 

is centrally located near the main urban area in Doncaster.  It is estimated that 
30,000 people live within 2km of this site. Access to natural green spaces has 
been shown to be hugely beneficial to public health, promoting greater fitness 
and improved mental wellbeing. Other benefits of tree and shrub planting include 
improved air quality and urban cooling. The project proposed offers the 
opportunity to create a large additional greenspace in the heart of the city. This is 
a rare opportunity to see multiple benefits for both people and nature delivered on 
a large scale.   
 

5. The development of a land acquisition strategy for Biodiversity Net Gain will 
mean that the Council will be ready to act upon future opportunities to deliver 
habitat banks in different areas of the borough as they arise. This will mean that 
more residents may see the benefits that Biodiversity Net Gain can bring 
realised. It is proposed that the Council will work on developing a further four 
habitat bank projects in the North, South, East and West of the Borough.  

 

BACKGROUND 

Definitions 

Biodiversity Net Gain (“BNG”): An approach to development that aims to leave 
the natural environment in a measurably better state than it was pre-development.  
Biodiversity Unit: A term of measurement that encompasses the area of a 
habitat, how ‘distinctive’ or special that habitat is considered and how good an 
example the habitat is (it’s condition). Biodiversity Units are used to quantify 
biodiversity losses and gains. 
Defra Metric: Is the accounting tool published by Defra that is used to calculate if 
a planning application delivers ‘Biodiversity Net Gain’.  
National Biodiversity Net Gain Sites Register: A publicly accessible register 
operated by Natural England that will record allocations of off-site biodiversity 
gains to developments. The register will operate from November 2023 and all 
offsite biodiversity net gain sites will need to be recorded. 

 

 

 

Topic A – Opening a Habitat Bank at Red House Farm 

Page 3



Planning Policy Background  

6. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2021) paragraph 174 part d 
requires planning decisions to provide net gains in biodiversity. In addition, the 
adopted Local Plan (2021), Policy 30, goes further than the NPPF and requires 
planning proposals to deliver a minimum 10% net gain in biodiversity.   
 

7. In September 2022, the Council adopted a Supplementary Planning Document 
on Biodiversity Net Gain, which provides further guidance for developers on how 
planning applications can satisfy the requirement to deliver Biodiversity Net Gain. 
This sets out that development should try and maximise the delivery of 
biodiversity onsite, before seeking opportunities to deliver offsite biodiversity net 
gain as close to the proposed development as possible. Finally, if no offsite 
biodiversity net gain projects can be found within Doncaster, then it allows 
developers to pay the Council a Biodiversity Net Gain Contribution of £25,0001 
per Biodiversity Unit. The Council takes the S106 contributions in return for 
promising to find BNG projects that deliver habitats to offset the impact of those 
developments. 

The Environment Act 

8. The Environment Act received Royal Assent on 9th November 2021. It amends 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and sets out that from November 20232 
all new developments will be legally required to demonstrate a minimum net gain 
of 10% and secure those gains for a minimum of 30 years. This is a strengthened 
requirement that Biodiversity Net Gain is secured compared to the situation 
currently, where gains are a requirement of planning policy alone. 
 

9. From the date in November when Biodiversity Net Gain becomes a legal 
requirement, the government has stated that Local Authorities will no longer be 
allowed to collect Biodiversity Offsetting Contributions as we do at present. 
Instead, developers will have to demonstrate they have secured biodiversity units 
from projects registered on a ‘National Biodiversity Net Gain Sites Register’.  

 
10. The government has indicated that they want a market of offsite biodiversity net 

gain projects to develop. The Defra Metric, which is used to calculate biodiversity 
losses and gains resulting from development, tries to incentivise ‘local’ delivery of 
offsite Biodiversity Net Gain by deducting units if a developer chooses a project 
outside the Local Planning Authority boundary, or National Character Area of the 
impact site.  

 
11. If no suitable projects are registered in Doncaster, then from November, 

developers will only be able to choose projects that are located outside the 
borough. As the National Character areas are large3, developers could choose 

 
1 From April 1st 2023 following a review of Council Fees and Charges a decision was taken corporately to 
increase the fee for Biodiversity Offsetting Contributions by 10% to £27,500 per biodiversity unit. 
2 The exact date in November when the Act will come fully into force will be set out in Secondary Legislation 
that is yet to be published. 
3 A map showing the extent of the National Character Areas is shown in Appendix 1. 

Page 4



projects a significant distance from Doncaster without facing a disincentive in 
terms of the number of units they need to buy. 

 
12. It is therefore considered important that the Red House Farm Habitat Bank 

project is progressed so that Doncaster will have a supply of Biodiversity Units 
available for sale once mandatory net gain comes into force. Further Council 
habitat banks could then be brought forward over the next 18 months. 

Other Biodiversity Net Gain Projects 

13. Other external organisations are likely to start to provide biodiversity units for sale 
over time as the market develops. Officers spoke to the Environment Bank in 
March about some of their work and were told that they were progressing a 
project with one land owner with land on the border of Doncaster and a 
neighbouring authority. This was expected to be ready to start selling units from 
April 2024. They had also been talking to a land owner within Doncaster about 
being a potential supplier of Open Mosaic Habitat Units4. This is not a type of 
habitat that Council Habitat Banks would be used to deliver. It may therefore also 
attract buyers from developments outside of Doncaster.  
 

14. In June 2021 the Council approved the principle of developing a Habitat Bank on 
a site by the River Torne near Rossington5.  This project is still proposed, but has 
been delayed as the Yorkshire Wildlife Trust, who now owns part of the land, are 
intending to undertake a project to re-meander a section of the watercourse 
adjacent to the site. Once this work has been completed then the Habitat Bank 
could open, however it is not expected to have units ready for sale in November. 
 

15. In conclusion, there is the potential for a gap in supply of units within Doncaster 
once net gain becomes mandatory in November.   

 

Context within Council Environment Strategy 

 
16. Creating a Habitat Bank is just one action that will deliver biodiversity benefits for 

residents across the Borough. The Council works with a number of strategic 
conservation partnerships to protect and enhance biodiversity across the 
Borough. These include the South Yorkshire Local Nature Partnership, 
Humberhead Levels Partnership and a number of Catchment Partnerships such 
as; the Don, Rother and Dearne; Torne; and Idle Catchment Partnership. 
Collaborative projects have recently secured significant investment in local 
habitat restoration and creation e.g. the multi-million pound Nature for Climate 
project aiming to restore the statutory protected sites at Thorne and Hatfield 
Moors and exploring opportunities for habitat creation on the farmed peatlands 
around them. Current funding bids also include the All hands on the Don project 
to deliver environmental improvements and opportunities for public engagement 

 
4 Open Mosaic Habitat is a high value habitat for biodiversity that develops on land that has previously been 
developed. Historic uses can mean that the habitats that arise are unusual.  As planning policy directs 
development to brownfield sites, it does often come up as a habitat that requires compensation. 
5 Decision Reference Number: EE21 0213 Torne Valley Habitat Bank. 

Page 5



with the river between Mexborough and Thorne and a separate lottery bid for a 
pond creation project working with Froglife in a number of communities across 
Doncaster. The development of the Local Nature Recovery Strategy for South 
Yorkshire will also require engagement with a broad range of communities, 
partners and new audiences across the Borough to identify and deliver strategic 
and local opportunities for nature recovery, some of which are already being 
explored e.g. through the Streetscene naturalisation pilot in parks and on open 
spaces.  

 

Council Habitat Bank – Red House Farm 

17. The map below shows the location of the proposed Red House Farm Habitat 
Bank. 
 

 
 

18. The site is owned by Doncaster Council and is tenanted to a farmer by way of a 
first succession 1986 Agricultural Holdings Act Tenancy. This effectively provides 
the tenant with security of tenure, other than in a limited number of special cases 
which do not apply in this particular case. Legal advice was sought on the best 
approach to bring the tenancy to an end. Following this the decision was made to 
approach the tenant to see if a negotiated settlement could be achieved, reducing 
the risk of time delays and possible court action. There was not the in-house 
agricultural case expertise to take this case on, so assistance was sought from 
an agricultural surveyor to represent the Council. Following negotiations, the 
agents have settled on a figure.  
 

Page 6



19. Subject to contract and Council approval, the next steps would be for legal 
officers to draw up a Deed of Surrender and serve a Notice to Quit. Following 
payment of the compensation, this would then allow the site back into Council 
control once the crop is harvested in late summer 2023. At the first opportunity 
post-harvest, to avoid the harvested site becoming covered in weeds, the ground 
would be prepared and seeded with a wildflower grass seed mix.  
 

20. Biodiversity Net Gain units would be generated on site by creating new habitats 
and managing these for a minimum of 30 years. It is proposed to create 
wildflower grassland, areas of species rich scrub, woodland and potentially 
ponds. An initial draft drawing of what this may look like is attached in Appendix 3 
(this is still subject to change at this point). It is anticipated that the project would 
deliver in the region of 100-150 biodiversity units. The habitats created will be 
monitored over the 30 years of the project to ensure that the target conditions are 
met. 

 
 

Selling Biodiversity Units 

21. The Habitat Bank project would be registered on the National Biodiversity Net 
Gain Sites Register, which will be operated by Natural England from November 
2023. The Council could then sell the biodiversity units that the project generates 
to developers needing to offset the impact of their developments and 
demonstrate net gain.  

 
22. Habitat Banks will need to be able to demonstrate that they are ‘legally secured’ 

in order to be registered on the National Sites Register. This will either be 
achieved using s106 agreements with individual developers wanting to buy 
biodiversity units from the Habitat Bank or via a Conservation Covenant.  

 
23. Conservation Covenants are legal agreements that bind a landowner to manage 

an area of land, for conservation purposes, as set out in the agreement. They are 
overseen by a different organisation acting as a ‘Responsible Body’. Guidance on 
the process involved in registering to become a Responsible Body is due out in 
the next couple of months. Once this is available it will be possible to assess the 
benefits of using s106 agreements versus Conservation Covenants. 

 

Project Costs and Demonstrating Viability 

24. The costs in Appendix 2 are estimates for a Habitat Bank project that solely 
creates grassland and delivers 128 biodiversity units. They are based on National 
Association of Agricultural Contractors Contracting Prices 2023. The long-term 
intention is to create a wider range of habitats, as described in paragraph 20, but 
approval is needed from the Forestry Commission for projects that plant more 
than 1 hectare of woodland/scrub. The work to inform an Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) to the Forestry Commission is currently underway, however 
the EIA process will take several months to be completed and bringing a decision 
to Cabinet after that would mean missing the window for ending the tenancy 

Page 7



agreement in 2023 and undertaking initial grassland creation at the appropriate 
time of year.   
 

25. This report recommends that Cabinet; approve the decision to end the existing 
tenancy agreement; pay the necessary compensation and fees; and approve the 
initial grassland creation across the site. 
 

26. A final layout for the scheme, including areas of scrub and woodland, will be 
decided once the EIA process is completed. At this point it will be possible to go 
out to formal tender on the management and habitat creation costs for years 1-5 
and appoint a suitable contractor. Similarly, the full guidance on how 
Conservation Covenants will operate has not yet been published by Government, 
so the costs of legally securing the delivery of units using that method are not yet 
known. It is therefore proposed in this report that decisions relating to agreeing 
the funding of years 1-5 of the project, appointing contractors and entering into 
conservation covenants are delegated.  

 
27. It is proposed to borrow from the Environment & Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon 

Earmarked Reserve, up to a maximum of £1 million to fund decisions ii-iv. This 
reserve was approved by Cabinet in February 2021 as part of the Quarter 3 
Finance and Performance Improvement report. The allocation of this reserve is 
already delegated to the Director of Economy and Environment and Assistant 
Director of Finance & Technology to utilise in consultation with the Mayor and 
therefore spending from the reserve will be approved via this previously agreed 
process but is noted in this report for completeness. 

 
28. The costs in Appendix 2 are just intended to demonstrate to Cabinet that the 

decision to proceed with the proposed Habitat Bank is financially viable, as a 
grassland scheme could be delivered on the site for around £15,000 per 
biodiversity unit, which is significantly less than the Council is currently charging 
as the Biodiversity Offsetting Contribution Fee.  The anticipated cost of delivering 
a more diverse scheme, with a variety of habitats, as shown in Appendix 3, is 
likely to be greater. 
 

29. The project would be cost neutral to the Council. The income from sales of 
Biodiversity Units covers all the costs associated with project development, 
surrender of the existing tenancy agreement, habitat creation and habitat 
management for 30 years, project management, monitoring, reporting and 
oversight of the project by a responsible body.  
 

30. The remaining money to fund the final 25 years of the project, would be obtained 
from the sale of biodiversity units. For a simple grassland project, as illustrated in 
appendix 2, the sale of 25 of the available 128 biodiversity units would be 
sufficient to fund the first five years of the project’s costs. The same, quick returns 
of the Council’s investment are expected for a project that delivers a more 
diverse range of habitats as illustrated in Appendix 3. The initial requested 
investment from the net zero fund is therefore likely to be returned within the first 
2-3 years of the scheme. Further financial detail on this would be provided and 

Page 8



scrutinised, once detailed costings are known, as part of the report that would be 
delegated as per recommendation number iv at the start of this report.   

 
31. This report recommends that a new earmarked reserve is created to enable the 

balance of income from unit sales to be carried forward to meet project costs over 
the 30-year period. As the unit cost includes re-couping the land opportunity 
value (currently estimated at around £670,000) this will generate a surplus within 
the reserve. What happens to this will be considered further down the line, once 
the project is more progressed and the speed of unit sales is known. 

 

Setting of Biodiversity Unit Price 

32. Sale prices for each Biodiversity Unit habitat type will vary as creation and 
management costs will not be the same for each habitat. The price of a 
biodiversity unit for a developer to buy a unit from the project would be calculated 
based on the total cost of the project for that habitat, plus a contingency fund, 
divided by the number of biodiversity units being created. The contingency fund 
would allow any habitat creation failures to be rectified. 

 
33. The final setting of a price for a biodiversity unit from the Red House Farm 

Habitat Bank is likely to be a key decision.  Depending on the timing, this decision 
could be made as part of the Revenue Budget 2024/25 - 2026/27 report planned 
to be considered by full Council on 26th February 2024, or via a specific report to 
Cabinet, the Mayor or the portfolio holder.  The agreed charges will be reviewed 
and published each year in line with other Council Fees and Charges.   

 

Topic B: A proposed Land Acquisition Strategy for Biodiversity Net Gain 

34. It is recognised that the benefits that biodiversity net gain projects can bring, 
should be spread across the Borough in a manner that means as many 
communities as possible benefit. The Council can only bring large Habitat Bank 
projects forward on land under its ownership. This limits the locations in which 
projects can currently be delivered. This report recommends that the Council 
supports the development of a further four habitat bank projects in the North, 
South, East and West of the Borough over the next 18 months. 

 
35. In addition, the report recommends support for the decision to develop a land 

acquisition strategy for land on which future Biodiversity Net Gain projects can be 
delivered. The Strategy would set out criteria that would guide potential 
acquisitions including factors such as the suitability of a site for a biodiversity net 
gain project and the significance of the location in terms of the ecological and 
social benefits it would bring. With this goal in mind, a key focus for the land 
acquisition strategy will be to direct opportunities towards deprived communities 
and ensure a good geographical spread of habitat bank sites in the North, South, 
East and West of the Borough. 

 

Page 9



36. Opportunities to purchase land often arise unexpectedly and have short 
timescales for offers to be made. It is therefore considered that a Biodiversity Net 
Gain Land Acquisition Strategy will mean these opportunities can be effectively 
acted upon. A draft Strategy document would be developed with Finance, 
Property Services and the Council’s Sustainability Unit for consultation with 
Portfolio Holders before being brought to Cabinet for approval. 

OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

37. Alternative options, all of which are NOT RECOMMENDED, are considered for 
each topic below. 

Topic A –Red House Farm Habitat Bank 

i) Continue with the existing agricultural tenancy on the farmland adjacent to 
Sandall Beat Wood and do not open a Habitat Bank. 
 

38. This option is not recommended as without a Habitat Bank open in Doncaster 
then from November 2023 compensation for biodiversity losses in the Borough 
will be compensated through sales of biodiversity units in other areas of the 
Country. 

 

Topic B - Land acquisition strategy for Biodiversity Net Gain 

ii) Do not develop a land acquisition strategy for Biodiversity Net Gain. 
 

39. Land sales often take place quickly. Without an acquisition strategy, that sets out 
what types of opportunity could potentially be suitable as Biodiversity Net Gain 
sites, there is a significant possibility that such opportunities would be missed. As 
the Council only has limited land in its ownership on which large Biodiversity Net 
Gain projects could be delivered, this would also mean the Council is less able to 
deliver future Habitat Banks in a range of locations across the Borough.  
 
iii) Do not work on developing further Habitat Bank projects. 

 
40. It is considered important that Doncaster has a good supply of biodiversity units 

available for sale. There is also the potential for money from developments 
outside of the Borough to fund these schemes. Not developing further Habitat 
Bank Schemes would also mean the potential benefits would be seen by less of 
Doncaster’s communities.  
 

 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 

41.  These are set out within the main body of the report under each topic.  

 

Page 10



IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 

42.   

Great 8 Priority  Positive 
Overall 

Mix of 
Positive & 
Negative 

Trade-
offs to 

consider 
– 

Negative 
overall 

Neutral or 
No 

implications 

 
Tackling Climate 
Change     

Comments: As well as helping to deliver biodiversity and better ecological networks, new 
habitats can also provide investment in other ecosystem services such as flood 
alleviation, carbon storage and improved air quality. These additional ecosystem services 
will help Doncaster to limit the negative impacts of and adapt to climate change.  

Developing the skills 
to thrive in life and in 
work 

    
Comments: N/A 

 Making Doncaster the 
best  
place to do business 
and create good jobs 

    
Comments: Inward investment in habitat creation in strategic locations within Doncaster 
as well as ongoing management of these new habitats will provide work within the 
borough. 

 Building opportunities 
for  
healthier, happier and 
longer lives for all 

    
Comments: The loss of species and habitats poses as much a danger to life on Earth as 
climate change does. As well as underpinning the food we eat and the air we breathe, we 
depend on it for protection from other threats, like pollution, flooding and climate 
breakdown.  The biggest driver of biodiversity loss is land-use change. The measures 
described in this report, will not only alleviate the impacts of biodiversity loss but provide a 
large additional green space for the people of Doncaster to enjoy.  
 Creating safer, 

stronger,  
greener and cleaner  
communities where 
everyone belongs 

    

Page 11



Comments: Ensuring that there are biodiversity units for sale within Doncaster will help to 
bring wildlife closer to communities while at the same time delivering other benefits that 
will make communities safer by delivering ecosystem services such as flood alleviation, 
clean air and carbon storage all of which will be increasingly important in mitigating the 
negative impacts of climate change.    

Nurturing a child and  
family-friendly 
borough 

    
Comments: Access to nature and green spaces have proven benefits for people’s mental 
health and personal well being. The development of Habitat Banks within Doncaster will 
mean the creation of new wildlife rich habitats that can help to connect children and 
families to nature. 
 Building Transport 

and digital 
connections fit for the 
future 

    
Comments: N/A 

 Promoting the 
borough and its 
cultural, sporting, and 
heritage opportunities 

    
Comments: N/A 

Fair & Inclusive     
Comments: In line with the corporate approach for compliance against the Equality Act 
2011 due regard must be shown across all activity within the Council. Many of the 
recommendations in this report represent high level strategic decisions, hence there are 
no detailed impacts on any people, groups or individuals on which to base a due regard 
statement. However as biodiversity net gain becomes further developed, and a clearer 
picture becomes available of how and where biodiversity net gain projects are being 
delivered, a due regard statement may need to be completed and reported. 

 

43. Legal Implications [Officer Initials: ND/SC | Date: 06.7.23] 
 
Biodiversity net gain (BNG) is an approach to developments that aims to leave the 
natural environment in a measurably better state that it was beforehand.  
 
The Environment Act 2021 amends the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 
which from November 2023 introduces a new mandatory requirement for BNG in 
the planning system, requiring developers to demonstrate on all new 
developments that they will achieve a minimum BNG increase of 10% from the 
pre-development biodiversity value.  

Page 12



 
One way in which developers can meet their obligations to mitigate the impacts of 
developments on biodiversity is by purchasing BNG units from Habitat Banks. In 
order to ensure that these BNG units are legally secured the Council can enter 
into s106 Agreements with developers which set out the arrangements for delivery 
of those BNG units.  
 
As the Council is proposing to establish its own Habitat Bank, there will be a need 
to enter into a legal agreement with an organisation acting as a ‘Responsible 
Body’ (such as the Wildlife Trust) who will oversee that the land is managed 
according to an agreed conservation management plan and from which BNG units 
will be sold to developers. It may be possible to use either a Conservation 
Covenant entered into under s117 of the Environment Act 2021 or a s106 
Agreement (under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) for this purpose. 
Further guidance from government on the use of conservation covenants is 
expected and further legal advice should be sought as to the appropriateness of 
legal documents to be entered into with a Responsible Body for the Habitat Bank’s 
creation, as the project progresses. 
 
Under the Agricultural Holdings Act 1986 the tenant is protected and benefits from 
security of tenure, which can only be terminated in very limited circumstances, 
none of which apply in this particular matter.  
 
Therefore negotiations with the tenant have been undertaken and accordingly an 
agreement has been reached in terms of the timetable and the compensation 
payable to the tenant.  
 
Legal should be consulted as soon as possible to prepare the deed of surrender 
of the agricultural tenancy.  
 

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 provides the Council with a general power of 
competence, allowing the Council to do anything that individuals generally may 
do. Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives the Council the power to 
purchase goods and services 

Procurements related to the creation, development and maintenance of the 
habitat bank must be carried out in accordance with the Councils contract 
procedure rules and public contracts regulations 2015 if applicable. 

As set out in the body of the report, a further key decision will be required to agree 
the price per BNG unit.  The income from the sale of BNG units should not create 
a profit for the Council.  Where there is a likelihood of profit being achieved, 
further legal advice will be required in relation to charging and or trading powers 
available to the Council which may also include the need to set up a separate 
company. 
 
The creation of a land acquisition strategy for BNG will help shape the Councils 
approach to land acquisitions for BNG purposes. 
  

Page 13



Further legal advice and assistance will be given as this project progresses 
 
 

44. Financial Implications [Officer Initials: OB | Date: 06.07.23] 
 

Topic A – Red House Farm Habitat Bank 

 (i) 

It is proposed to setup a Habitat Bank on a Council owned area of land adjacent to 
Sandall Beat Wood. A Habitat Bank is expected to be cost neutral over the thirty-
year life of the commitment. Although initial investment for scheme start up is 
requested from Earmarked Reserves, the units of Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 
delivered by the scheme would be sold to developers at a price that is expected to 
cover the full thirty years of estimated costs of acquiring, preparing and managing 
the land and delivering the net gain, including annual inflation over that period. There 
is no profit element built into the calculations for habitat banks run by CDC, but some 
other organisations offering these may choose to do so.  

There is a risk with this scheme that inflation will be greater over the thirty year 
period than the estimate used in any initial calculations, resulting in costs to the 
council not being fully passed onto developers. There is also a risk with these habitat 
bank schemes that the units are not all sold, or not sold at a price that fully recovers 
the full costs of the scheme and the ongoing commitments arising from the sale of 
some units. It is recommended that the position be reviewed after an initial period. It 
is hoped that these units will sell in full as the sale of interim BNG Units by the 
Council since their recent introduction have been successful.  

It is proposed that more Habitat Banks are created across the borough. As each site 
is unique and based upon a principle of cost recovery, this could result in a very 
different cost per units of Habitat Bank BNG across similar projects. It is expected 
that this will be the norm with BNG, with developers being forced to seek out 
whatever is available, whether that be on privately owned land or council owned 
land.  

Competition from other private sector habitat banks is not expected to create an 
issue in the early years. However, this is something that would need to be 
considered for any future similar council projects as this market develops.  

(ii) & (iii)  

The estimated cost of compensation to be paid to the agricultural tenant is not 
disclosed in this report. There is a risk that Council Funds will be used to 
compensate the farmer for the lease at Sandall Beat but the Habitat Bank does not 
then proceed to creation as planned. The Council would then have used resources 
for no benefit and no longer receive the annual lease income payments of £2,742 
from the farmer. This could also be the case for the initial grass seeding costs if the 
scheme does not progress beyond that stage.  

(iv) 

Page 14



A simple grassland scheme has been costed by the service to demonstrate that this 
land could produce reasonably priced units. Draft calculations suggest that a simple 
grassland habitat could be established producing units for a fee of £15,000 per unit 
which is much less than the current charge paid for interim BNG Units offered by the 
Council. Whilst it is intended that the actual scheme will produce a more rich and 
diverse habitat, the simple grassland scheme information aims to provide some 
reassurance that a project of this kind is viable, as the decision on the outlay of funds 
to acquire and seed the land is required before the full information required to cost 
the desired scheme can be obtained. The service expect that the more diverse 
habitat will be more expensive per unit but still be competitive and below the current 
Council BNG Charge. The comparative cost of the new statutory biodiversity credits 
as part of a national scheme introduced by the government post November 2023 are 
not yet known.  

The remaining project costs for years 1-5 will therefore be determined at a later date 
and approval to proceed with the scheme delegated once the final layout for the 
Habitat Bank, the detailed costings and the viability of the scheme have been 
established. This report recommends delegation for authority to the Director of Place 
and Chief Financial Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet Members for 
Sustainability and Waste and Finance, Traded Services and Planning, to fund the 
remaining project costs for years 1-5 (when known) subject to the production of a 
final layout for the Habitat Bank and detailed costings being produced and is 
conditional on the scheme being demonstrated as viable to the market.  

As it is anticipated that the opportunity cost of the land would be included in the cost 
calculation of the Habitat Bank BNG units, there could be a surplus income (currently 
estimated at £670k) that could be used for an alternative purpose.   

(v) 

It is proposed that £1m is “borrowed” from the £5m Environment & Sustainability /Net 
Zero Carbon Earmarked Reserve fund to cover the project start-up costs as 
described above. This reserve was approved by Cabinet in February 2021 as part of 
the Quarter 3 Finance and Performance Improvement report. The allocation of this 
reserve is delegated to the Director of Place and Assistant Director of Finance & 
Technology to utilise in consultation with the Mayor but, in this case, the decision to 
allocate £1m is proposed to be made by Cabinet.  

It is expected that the income from the sale of the units of Biodiversity Net Gain 
(BNG) created by the Habitat Bank will fully cover all the costs associated with 
creating, maintaining and managing the habitat bank for the 30 period and beyond. 
This means that if units sell as expected, this initial £1m investment from the £5m 
Environment & Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon Earmarked Reserve will be returned 
and reinvested within the first few years of this scheme.  

(viii) 

It is not yet known what the financial implications of entering a Conservation 
Covenant on the land would be and this would need to be considered further on 
approval.  

(ix) 

Page 15



It is likely that income will be received in the earlier years of the scheme so this 
report recommends that a new earmarked reserve is created to enable the balance 
of income to be carried forward to meet costs over the 30 year period.  

 

(x) 

To calculate a price per unit of BNG, the total cost of the scheme for 30 years is 
divided equally by the estimated number of units of BNG that will be produced. As 
the full information is not yet available, this report does not propose approving a level 
of fee at this time.  This is likely to mean a further key decision is needed. Depending 
on the timing this decision could be made as part of the Revenue Budget 2024/25 - 
2026/27 report planned to be considered by full Council on 26th February 2024, or 
via a specific report to Cabinet, the Mayor or the portfolio holder.  The agreed 
charges will be reviewed and published each year in line with other Council Fees 
and Charges.   

 

Topic B - Land acquisition strategy for Biodiversity Net Gain 

There are no direct financial implications arising at this stage.  

 

45. Human Resources Implications [Officer Initials: DK | Date: 06/07/2023] 

There are no immediate HR implications arising from the approval of this report and 
the proposed changes the three projects related to Biodiversity net gain, however, 
any future changes that impact on the workforce will require HR engagement and 
would involve separate approval as appropriate. 

46. Technology Implications [Officer Initials: ET | Date: 06/07/23] 

There are no technology implications in relation to this report 

 

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

47. It is not considered that there are any significant risks or assumptions associated 
with the decisions covered under Topic B (land acquisitions strategy). With 
respect to Topic A (the decision to open a Habitat Bank on the land adjacent to 
Sandall Beat Wood) the following risks and assumptions are considered.   
 

48. There is a risk that the initial investment from the Net Zero Fund will not be 
recouped.  This would happen if the Biodiversity Units the project generated did 
not sell. It is considered unlikely that this would be the case. There is already 
demand from developers to buy biodiversity net gain units and evidence that a 
fee of £25,000 per unit is viable.  This is demonstrated by the fact that four s106 
agreements have already resulted in Biodiversity Net Gain contributions being 
paid to the Council. In addition, a further four s106 agreements have also been 
signed. It is accepted that developers may start to seek cheaper alternatives over 
time.   

Page 16



 
49. One benefit of the Council being able to fund the upfront habitat creation and 

management of the habitats on the site is that the Defra metric rewards schemes 
that have created habitat in advance of selling the units. This means that in 5 
years time, the created habitats will be worth more biodiversity units than they are 
in year 1.  As a result we would be able to sell more biodiversity units from the 
site without increasing the cost of the project.  This would mean we could reduce 
the price of our units to be more competitive in the market.  

 
50. It is anticipated that at the point in time the compensation payment to the farmer 

is required (expected around August 2023) the full costings and final layout of a 
scheme including woodland and scrub may not be available for approval. This is 
considered a low risk. The figures in Appendix 2 show that a scheme that delivers 
grassland only is a financially viable option, with units costing significantly under 
the value at which existing Biodiversity Net Gain contributions are being 
collected. If the scenario arose where a project with woodland and scrub creation 
were a lot more expensive to deliver then it would be possible to implement a 
project where only grassland was created.  

 
51. Once biodiversity units are sold, the Council will be legally required to deliver a 

project that creates that many biodiversity units. There is risk that the habitats 
created don’t meet the necessary target conditions within the timeframe of the 
project, such that there is a shortfall in the number of units delivered. If this 
happened, the Council would nevertheless be responsible for delivering the units. 
This risk is mitigated in that there will be a contingency budget built into the 
costings in case things fail. It is also possible to design the scheme in a way that 
the target conditions are lower than potentially achievable, and hence more likely 
to be achieved.  If an excess of biodiversity units that are delivered then these 
could be sold at a later date. 

 

 

CONSULTATION 

52. The woodland and scrub planting elements of the Red House Farm Habitat Bank 
project will be subject to approval by the Forestry Commission (FC). Work is 
currently underway preparing the information for a Stage 1 Environmental Impact 
Assessment to be submitted to the FC. This will inform whether the project will 
have a significant effect on the environment and hence inform whether a Stage 2 
application to apply to the FC for consent to undertake the project is required. 
 

53. The EIA process includes consultation with a wide range of internal and external 
stakeholders, including South Yorkshire Archaeology Service, Natural England, 
Public Rights of Way. 
 

54. In addition to the above, detailed landscape drawings have been commissioned 
that will inform the FC Stage 1 application. These will also be used for 
engagement with the public and members over the coming months. 

Page 17



 
55. Throughout February 2023, a number of internal Officer stakeholder meetings 

were held, including with: Assets; Legal; Finance, Procurement; and Democratic 
Services to inform the scope and content of this report.     

 
56. Discussions have taken place at officer level regarding the potential use of the 

Net Zero Earmarked Reserve to fund the initial project costs for the Habitat Bank. 
Support for this approach is currently being sought from senior officers. 
 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

57.  None. 

 

GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 

BNG – Biodiversity Net Gain  
CDC – City of Doncaster Council 
EIA – Environmental Impact Assessment  
FC – Forestry Commission 
ODR – Officer Decision Record 
S106 – Section 106 

 

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS  

Helen Markland, Principal Ecologist  

Phone Number: 01302 734 912 Email address: Helen.Markland@doncaster.gov.uk 

Jonathan Clarke, Planning Policy & Environment Manager 

Phone Number: 01302 735 316 Email address: Jonathan.Clarke1@doncaster.gov.uk 

Dan Swaine, Director of Place  

Phone Number: 01302 862 503 Email address: Dan.Swaine@doncaster.gov.uk 

Page 18



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

Map showing National Character Areas in relation to Doncaster 

P
age 19



P
age 20



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 

 

Estimated project costings for a Red House Farm Habitat Bank creating species rich grassland units 

 

  

P
age 21



 

 

 

Costings for a Habitat Bank at Red House Farm that creates species rich grassland - delivering 22.43ha (55.5 acres) of moderate condition other neutral 
grassland 
Summary Description Cost 
Habitat creation – Year 1 Initial habitat creation costs including site preparation and 

sowing grass seed. 
£70,000 

Land costs/habitat management  Total cost of securing the land -  including compensation 
payment and recouping land value. 
Establishment management - including establishment 
management during year 1, annual hay crops, weed control 
and mowing for a varied sward height over 30 years.   

£1,450,500 

Project Development and Monitoring Project development and feasibility work – including soil 
testing, baseline BNG assessment, landscape drawings and 
staff time. Condition assessment surveys and monitoring, 
conservation covenant costs and project management. 

£240,500 

Insurance/contingency To cover unforeseen events £152,000 
Total Project Cost £1,920,000 

Cost per Biodiversity Unit £14,945 
 

 

P
age 22



 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3  

 

 

Initial draft Landscape drawing showing Red House Farm Habitat Bank (design subject to change) 

 

  

P
age 23



 

 

P
age 24



 
 P

age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Report 
 

 

Date: 19.07.23 
To the Chair and Members of Cabinet 
Report Title: The future of the former National College for Advanced Transport 
& Infrastructure Building 

Relevant Cabinet Member(s) Wards Affected Key Decision? 

Cllr Lani-Mae Ball, Cabinet Member for 
Early Help, Education, Skills & Young 
People 

All Yes 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
1. Doncaster has a long-standing ambition to more closely align the local skills supply and 

development offer with the needs of local economic growth sectors as a means to 
developing a more highly skilled and productive economy. This ambition is most recently 
articulated by both Doncaster’s Education & Skills 2030 Strategy, and Doncaster’s 
Economic Strategy 2030, both of which acknowledge the need to develop a ‘Talent and 
Innovation Ecosystem’ model that centres on five ‘Centres of Excellence’ which offer the 
opportunity for highly productive and innovation-led growth. 

2. In line with this longstanding ambition, the Council supported, both financially and 
practically, the development of a new independent national college – the National College 
for High Speed Rail (NCHSR), funded from a combined grant from the Department of 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy and the Mayoral Combined Authority. In January 
2015, Cabinet also approved a decision to provide delegated authority for individual 
decisions on NCHSR to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Mayor, the Director of 
Finance and Corporate Services and Director of Regeneration and Environment in order 
to facilitate and expediate the development. 

3. In October 2017 the NCHSR – a £26m purpose-built facility – opened on Carolina Way 
with the express purpose of training and upskilling new engineers, managers and 
designers for the UK high-speed rail industry.  

4. In October 2019, the College rebranded (as the National College for Advanced Transport 
& Infrastructure (NCATI)) and re-scoped its offer following delays and costing problems 
with the HS2 project, and financial difficulties. It was subsequently taken over by the 
University of Birmingham Group.  

Page 27

Agenda Item 7.



5. In spite of these changes, the College continued to experience difficulties, and on the 13th 
February 2023 following a robust consultation formally announced it would cease direct 
delivery and wind down by 31st July 2023.  

6. Since this announcement, CDC has made every effort to proactively secure a positive 
future for this strategically important asset and ensure that it continues to benefit residents 
and businesses within the city and wider region. As such, on 23rd March 2023, CDC 
responded to the consultation requesting that the facility and its offer be reconfigured to 
suit a multi-occupancy, multi-purpose use: a hub for learning and enterprise to support a 
Centre of Excellence in Advanced Manufacturing, Engineering, and Rail. 

7. This wind down process is still being worked through, including timescales. The freehold 
land for the college is owned by CDC and was provided by CDC for the college under the 
terms of a 125 year lease. The freehold of the NCATI building will therefore revert to CDC 
by operation of law immediately following the surrender of that lease.   

8. Whilst the closure of the Doncaster based NCATI is disappointing, it also presents an 
opportunity for the Team Doncaster Partnership and CDC to develop a new and exciting 
offer which supports local strategic plans for skills and economy. 

9. CDC is presently liaising with NCATI and the Department for Education (DfE) (discussions 
with the latter include a request for funds to aid the transition and provide an indemnity for 
gaps in occupancy) whilst simultaneously engaging in a consultation with partners to 
develop a business case for a new offer that is aligned to local strategy with a robust 
framework in order to maximise the opportunity for the City and region.  

10. This report therefore seeks to provide an update on the current position regarding the 
former NCATI building as well as the steps the Council has been taking thus far, and will 
continue to take over the coming weeks, in order to secure a positive future for the building.  

11. As the exact timescales for the return of the building are unclear, and because the remits 
of directors and portfolio holders have been updated since delegated authority was 
originally provided, this report also makes a request for delegated authority to be provided 
to the Director of Children, Young People and Families, the Director of Corporate 
Resources, and the Portfolio Holder for Portfolio Holder for Early Help, Education, Skills 
and Young People, to make individual decisions about the former NCATI building in order 
to progress the development of a new offer as and when this is practicable.   

12. The building costs up to £629k per annum to run. In the longer-term CDC expects these 
costs to be covered by income generated by occupancy/rental. 

 

EXEMPT REPORT 

13. This report is not exempt. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

14. This report recommends that Cabinet: 

R1.  Notes that since the freehold land for the college is owned by CDC and was 
provided by CDC for the college under the terms of a 125 year lease, the freehold 
of the NCATI building will therefore revert to CDC by operation of law immediately 
following the surrender of that lease. 

R2. Notes and supports the process the Council is following to ensure the future use of 
the building aligns to local and regional strategic ambitions.  

Page 28



R3. Delegates authority to the Director of Children, Young People & Families and the 
Director of Corporate Resources, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Portfolio Holder for Early Help, Education, Skills and Young People, to make 
decisions relating to the running and operations of the former NCATI building. 

 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 

15. The College is a £26m purpose-built facility on Carolina Way and had been offering a 
range of part-time and full-time courses and apprenticeships across Levels 3 to 6, with 
introductory units on rail, engineering and management, as well as specialist subjects such 
as digital railway systems, track engineering, and train technologies of the future.  

16. CDC has been in contact with NCATI and other local education providers to ensure all 
learners have the opportunity to complete or continue their studies. Dependent on their 
location, 24 learners on study programmes have transferred to either DN Colleges Group 
or to South & City College Birmingham, 25 higher education learners will complete their 
programme in partnership with Sheffield Hallam University, and 38 apprentices will 
complete their programme with NCATI before 31st July 2023. With the support of their 
employers, a further 81 apprentices with an end date beyond 31st July 2023 have been 
transferred to other good quality providers. 

17. Whilst it is disappointing to see the closure of the existing NCATI offer, CDC is making 
every effort to proactively secure a positive future for this strategically important asset and 
believes the availability of the Doncaster-based site presents an opportunity for the Team 
Doncaster Partnership to work with industry and learning provision partners to curate a 
unique offer delivering a vibrant hub of business and education providers that delivers 
Team Doncaster’s ambition to create a locally grown, place-focused talent and industry 
ecosystem which supports regional and national requirements.  

18. Doncaster’s Education & Skills 2030 Strategy commits Team Doncaster to the following 
key priorities and aims, through a ‘Talent & innovation Ecosystem’ approach: 

• A New Model of Post-16 Education:  

o An Education & Skills System that is Responsive to the Needs of the Local & 
National Economy 

o A Co-Ordinated Post-16 Education Offer that Gives Learners the Skills they Need 
to Prosper 

o Transform Doncaster into a University City that Provides Advanced Learning 
through Centres of Excellence 

• New Skills and Pathways to Fulfilling Life & Work   

o Establish Learning Partnerships with Local & Regional Industries that Provide 
Quality, Sustainable Employment 

o Ensure All Residents have Opportunity to Thrive & Access Fulfilling Careers 

19. In a similar vein, Doncaster’s Economic Strategy 2030 includes a Mission Priority for 
‘Innovation Platforms’ with an aim to ‘Create Industry, Learning, & Research Partnerships’ 
in pursuit of this ecosystems approach.  

20. The closure of NCATI presents an opportunity to develop a new locally-led offer at the 
building that will create clear pathways to local, skilled employment that will benefit the 
Doncaster economy (and therefore to deliver against the aforementioned priorities and 
aims). 

Page 29



BACKGROUND 

Development of the Existing Offer 

21. Doncaster has a long-standing ambition to more closely align the local skills supply and 
development offer with the needs of local economic growth sectors as a means to 
developing a more highly skilled and productive economy. This ambition is most recently 
articulated by: 

• Doncaster’s Education and Skills 2030 Strategy, which commits Team Doncaster to a 
‘Talent & Innovation Ecosystem’ model which represents a whole-systems approach 
involving partners from across and outside of the education sector (but particularly 
local industry) to deliver learning for the real world, a ‘hybrid’ learning model, and 
industry-led challenges. This creates a different lens for skills development, one that 
is rooted across the learner’s life course, but linked to the current and future needs of 
Doncaster’s key industries – encapsulated by five ‘Centres of Excellence’ (one of which 
is Advanced Manufacturing & Engineering).  

• Doncaster’s Economic Strategy 2030, which strategy presents four Sectors of 
Opportunity, which are priority areas for economic development, along with industry 
‘niches’ which offer the opportunity for highly productive and innovation-led growth. 
This likewise acknowledges the need to focus talent development and industry support 
around niches that are aligned to the Centres of Excellence. The strategy’s five delivery 
Mission Priorities work in conjunction with the Education and Skills 2030 Strategy to 
ensure holistic delivery and joined up thinking.  

23. In line with this longstanding ambition, the Council supported, both financially and 
practically, the development of a new independent national college - the National College 
for High Speed Rail (NCHSR), funded from a combined grant from the Department of 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy and the Sheffield City Region with the Council 
gifting the land to help secure funding and accelerate the project. CDC itself put forward 
£1.1m of capital corporate resources and £150k of revenue contributions towards pre-
development costs, and further supported key project strands of governance, curriculum 
development and the design and construction of the building. 

24. On 7th January 2015 Cabinet approved a decision to provide delegated authority for 
individual decisions on NCHSR to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Mayor, the 
Director of Finance and Corporate Services and Director of Regeneration and 
Environment. 

25. In October 2017 this £26m purpose-built facility opened on Carolina Way with the express 
purpose of training and upskilling new engineers, managers and designers for the UK high-
speed rail industry.  

26. In October 2019, the College rebranded (as the National College for Advanced Transport 
& Infrastructure (NCATI)) and re-scoped its offer following delays and costing problems 
with the HS2 project, and financial and student recruitment difficulties. It was subsequently 
taken over by the University of Birmingham Group. 

Closure of the Existing Offer 

27. In spite of these changes, the College continued to experience difficulties, and on the 13th 
February 2023 entered into a robust consultation process with staff, learners, employer 
partners, and other stakeholders to explore different ideas and suggestions for its future.  

28. Since this announcement, CDC has made every effort to proactively secure a positive 
future for this strategically important asset and ensure that it continues to benefit residents 

Page 30



and businesses within the city and wider region. As such, on 23rd March 2023, CDC 
responded to the consultation requesting that the facility and its offer be reconfigured to 
suit a multi-occupancy, multi-purpose use: a hub for learning and enterprise to support a 
Centre of Excellence in Advanced Manufacturing, Engineering, and Rail. 

29. The consultation, which ended on 31st March 2023, concluded that the Board, with support 
from the University of Birmingham, had resolved to discontinue the direct delivery of its 
further and higher education programmes, and to wind down the College by 31 July 2023.  

30. This wind down process is still being worked through, including timescales. The freehold 
land for the college is owned by CDC and was provided by CDC for the college under the 
terms of a 125 year lease. The freehold of the NCATI building will therefore revert to CDC 
by operation of law immediately following the surrender of that lease.    

Proposal for a Team Doncaster Offer & Next Steps 

31. CDC is presently liaising with NCATI and the DfE whilst simultaneously engaging in a 
consultation with partners to develop a business case for a new offer that is aligned to 
local strategy with a robust framework in order to maximise the opportunity for the City and 
region.  

32. The Council’s ambition is to curate, in partnership with local anchor institutions, a unique 
offer delivering a vibrant hub of business and learning providers which would help deliver 
on Team Doncaster’s ambition of creating a locally grown, place-focused education and 
skills ecosystem, aligned to key growth sectors.  

33. This vision would align with both regional and local strategic ambitions. Doncaster’s 
Education & Skills and Economic strategies seek to better-integrate local skills (talent) with 
the local business base (industry). Both of these strategies include a focus on five Centres 
of Excellence which offer the opportunity for highly productive and innovation-led growth: 

• Engineering & Manufacturing 

• Green Technology 

• Health & Care 

• Creative & Digital 

• Culture 

34. This is core to the Council’s approach and the vision for Carolina Way, which is for a blend 
of education and skills delivery providers as well as sector-aligned businesses to operate 
within an integrated hub model. 

35. A project delivery team has been established with a range of critical workstreams identified 
including: 

• Education and Skills  

o Identifying potential education provision and training courses specific to the 
identified sectors. 

o Working with education providers to map out the space requirements and 
constraints. 

o Working with sectors to co-design/agree flexible training space which will also 
provide a commercial offer. 

Page 31



o Links with relevant strategies ensuring the proposition is marketable within the 
local area. 

o Demand and recruitment planning.  

• Consultation and engagement  

o Detailed business engagement strategy development and delivery. 

o Assessment of opportunities and modelling. 

o Wider stakeholder engagement and consultation strategy and delivery.  

o Development of detailed communication plans to support the development and 
delivery of the project. 

• Finance and governance 

o Development of project governance structure and decision-making process. 

o Management of internal democratic approvals process and associated briefings 
and other activity. 

o Developing the financial proposition and commercial offer. 

o Sensitivity and risk assessment.  

o Development and approval of detailed project delivery budget and resource 
plan.  

o Monitoring the agreed budget and escalating any concerns, issues, or risks 
through the appropriate governance channel. 

• Legal and property 

o Provision of expertise advice and guidance in respect of the building leases and 
use. 

o Work with the relevant stakeholders and decision makers regarding the 
processes and approvals required for the delivery of the building back to CDC. 

36. Consultation with local industry and learning providers so far has made clear that there is 
a strong appetite to deliver a new offer of the nature proposed; with potential for a multi-
occupancy, multi-use space that supports one or more of Doncaster’s Centres of 
Excellence.  

Finance & Maintenance 

37. CDC’s Finance and Property Services Teams have also liaised with NCATI to establish 
the annual costs associated with running the building: 

Item £ 
2 x facilities management staffing costs 62,496 
Cleaning  78,355 
Security 39,600 
Water 31,250 
Lift maintenance 528 
Insurance 14,000 
Business rates 47,104 
Electricity  56,135 

Page 32



Gas  37,383 
Waste 2,841 
Planned maintenance 15,456 
CHP 8,085 
Reactive maintenance 33,174 
Health & Safety 13,794 
Total non-staff costs 377,705 
Total premises costs 440,201 
Additional business rates 188,416 
Revised total premises cost 628,617 

38. In addition, it should be noted that: 

• there is an extant issue with the roof of the building which will likely incur further costs 
to resolve; though these are currently assessed to be relatively minor, and still covered 
by warranty 

• there is no allowance within the running costs for contribution to a sinking fund or other 
means of paying for lifecycle costs 

39. CDC expects these costs to be covered by income generated by occupancy/rental.    

40. Based on discussion with business to date the Council is confident there is a reasonable 
amount of positive interest across each of these sectors to develop such an offer. Further, 
the Council will discuss with the DfE the possibility of the provision of additional funds to 
aid the transition and gaps in occupancy as an indemnity to cover the transition period.  

Next Steps  

41. CDC will continue to progress the workstreams already in train (outlined in paragraph 35). 

42. As soon as practicable, the Council’s proposal is to then develop a detailed business case 
which demonstrates the viability of the proposal, delivery timescale and phasing alongside 
detailed commitments from education and skills delivery partners, business and the wider 
Team Doncaster partnership. As part of the business case, CDC will explore a phased 
approach to delivery, to facilitate handover of the building and ensure the running costs 
are recovered as early as possible. 

43. To enable this, it is requested that Cabinet approves the provision of delegated authority 
to the Director of Children, Young People & Families and the Director of Corporate 
Resources, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Portfolio Holder for Early Help, 
Education, Skills and Young People to make all decisions relating to the running and 
operations of the former NCATI building. 

44. CDC has engaged specialist resources and briefed them of these developments to then 
be able to instruct them, with immediate effect to support the business case development 
should the recommendations within this report be accepted. It is anticipated that this work 
will take approximately three months to complete.  

45. Formal project governance will be implemented and will include key Team Doncaster and 
CDC representation and decision makers as well as wider stakeholders including the DfE 
where appropriate. 
 

 

Page 33



OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

46.  The options for CDC in respect to the NCATI site are: 

• To not make any new delegations to individual executive officers or elected members 
to make decisions about the former NCATI building. This option is not recommended 
because it would limit CDC’s ability to act flexibly and expediently in the development 
of a new offer at the site.  

• To delegate responsibility to the Director for Children, Young People, and Families, 
and the Director for Corporate Resources in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Early Help, Education and Skills, to make all decisions relating to the running and 
operation of the former NCATI building. (Recommended option.) 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 

47. The proposal to delegate responsibility to the Director for Children, Young People, and 
Families, and the Director for Corporate Resources in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Early Help, Education and Skills, to make all individual decisions relating to the 
running and operation of about the former NCATI building is recommended in order to 
prepare for the possible transfer of liability at pace, as well as to ensure CDC is responsive 
to the outcome of continued consultation with partners and other stakeholders in a way 
that ensures a sustainable offer at the site that supports local economic growth and 
economic strategies. 

 

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 

48.   

Great 8 Priority  Positive 
Overall 

Mix of 
Positive & 
Negative 

Trade-
offs to 

consider 
– 

Negative 
overall 

Neutral or 
No 

implications 

 
Tackling Climate 
Change     

Since the proposal is to take over the running of an existing building, there are no 
anticipated negative environmental impacts. However, there is a potential for environmental 
benefits if the offer includes provision for the development of green skills or technology.  
 

Developing the skills to 
thrive in life and in work     

The Council will ensure any new offer at the site will be directly aligned to our economic 
and education and skills strategies, with a focus on supporting one or more of the five 
Centres of Excellence. . 

Page 34



 Making Doncaster the 
best place to do 
business & create good 
jobs 

    

The Council will ensure use of the site continues to deliver on Team Doncaster’s ambition 
of creating a locally grown, place-focused talent and innovation ecosystem, , with a focus 
on supporting one or more of the five Centres of Excellence.. 
 

Building opportunities 
for healthier, happier & 
longer lives for all 

    

Through ensuring there are continued opportunities for learning, development, and quality 
employment at the site, a new offer at the former NCATI building would enhance the wider 
conditions needed to support healthier, happier and longer lives for all.  

 Creating safer, stronger, 
greener & cleaner 
communities where 
everyone belongs 

    

Ensuring the site continues to serve the needs of local people and businesses will have a 
positive impact on the local area and communities.  

 
Nurturing a child & 
family-friendly 
borough 

    

Developing the local educational and employment opportunities on offer will facilitate more 
of Doncaster’s young residents to study and work within Doncaster, rather than having to 
look outside of the borough. This will strengthen communities and make more young people 
feel that they have a future here. 
 

Building Transport & 
digital connections fit 
for the future 

    

The continued use of a purpose-built site for training across sectors of local economic 
importance will ensure that there is a local skills supply to support the development of better 
local transport and digital connections.  

 Promoting the borough 
& its cultural, sporting, 
& heritage opportunities 

    

Page 35



As the birthplace of the Mallard and Flying Scotsman locomotives, Doncaster has a strong 
rail heritage, and a locally developed offer at the site would ensure the facility continues to 
build on this legacy. 

Fair & Inclusive     

A locally led offer at the site would ensure there are equitable and opportunities for residents 
to engage in continues learning and access quality employment.  

 

49. Legal Implications [Officer Initials: PC | Date: 29 June 2023] 

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 gives the Council the power to do anything that individuals 
may generally do.   

S111 Local Government Act 1972 states that a Council shall have power to do anything 
(whether or not involving the expenditure, borrowing or lending of money or the acquisition or 
disposal of any property or rights) which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental 
to, the discharge of any of their functions. 

Secretary of State for Education’s written approval is required for NCATI to surrender the lease 
back to the Council.  Legal services should be consulted to prepare the deed of surrender.  

The Council entered into two grant agreements to fund the construction of the building. Both 
grant agreements contain clawback clauses which allow the grant provider to clawback the 
grant in certain circumstances.  South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority have confirmed 
that they will not invoke the clawback provision in their grant agreement, however Birmingham 
City Council is the accountable body in relation to the grant received from Department of 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy.  Birmingham City Council have entered into a grant 
agreement with the Council to pass Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
grant funding to the Council.  The Council have asked Birmingham City Council to confirm that 
clawback will not be invoked, and we await their response.  

Legal services will provide ongoing support as the position develops. 

50. Financial Implications [Officer Initials: MS | Date: 28 June 2023] 

The current running costs of the building are £440k per annum. This is net of a business rates 
relief related to the building being used for education purposes.  Whether the relief continues 
will depend on how the building is used in the future; mixed use may mean the relief no longer 
applies.  Without the relief the costs increase to £629k per annum. In the short-term the costs 
may reduce if the building is deemed to be empty for business rates purposes.  Additionally, 
if the building is moth-balled then the costs will be lower (cleaning, energy, maintenance etc). 

If the building becomes CDC’s responsibility from 1st August, then the cost in the 2023/24 
financial year could be up to £420k.  Funding to meet such costs will need to be identified as 
the business planning progresses.  In the short-term, as stated above, the Council will discuss 
with the DfE the possibility of the provision of additional funds to aid the transition period. 

The longer-term aspiration is that the building pays for itself though there is the risk that this 
is not possible.  In the short-term no immediate alternative use of the building has been 
decided, therefore, unless alternative funding is secured the building will be at a cost to the 
Council. 

Page 36



The construction of the building was undertaken by CDC using grants received from South 
Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority (SYMCA) and the Department of Business, Energy 
and Industrial Strategy (via Birmingham City Council). The grants were provided subject to 
clawback provisions. SYMCA have indicated that they would not seek any clawback however 
confirmation is still awaited from Birmingham City Council. The grant received from 
Birmingham City Council was for around £17m.  Clawback therefore remains a risk but, in the 
circumstances, the likelihood is low. 

51. Human Resources Implications [Officer Initials: KW | Date: 30/06/23] 

Based on the information contained within this report there are no apparent HR implications. 
As things progress please ensure there is ongoing communication with the HR team. 

52. Technology Implications [Officer Initials: NR | Date: 28/6/23] 

There will be a need to consider the ongoing support and maintenance (and costs) of existing 
technology infrastructure and systems (e.g., building management, access control, MFDs, 
telephony etc) and the novation of associated technology contracts.  Without having the ability 
to assess the current technology and how it is implemented, it is impossible to say whether 
this could be supported in-house or not.  

Dependent on emerging requirements, CDC Digital & ICT Department would potentially need 
to be involved to provide services to any CDC staff moving forward. This could involve 
substantial costs if the existing infrastructure is not fit for purpose.  

Subject to the existing contracts and future usage, it may be a recommendation that the 
IT/infrastructure is continued to be supported by a Third Party with no, or very limited, CDC 
Digital & ICT involvement.  

All technology will require an initial security assessment as part of any proposed transition 
plan to ensure required standards and certifications are met. 

 

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

53. The lack of a long-term investment plan has been identified as one of the reasons for the 
failure which further strengthens CDC and Team Doncaster’s drive to create a hub which 
is sustainable and supports local economic growth and economic strategies. The co-
location of Talent and Industry opportunities is vital. The closure of NCATI is a loss to the 
region but the Council has a proposed solution that will provide more opportunities and 
strengthen our strategic plans. 

54. In order to succeed, it is necessary to understand any constraints which may impact project 
delivery. This includes any legal covenants that would specify future building use, the legal 
mechanisms that would transfer the freehold, and the timescales relating to this transfer. 
CDC is therefore looking to work closely with the DfE to agree the parameters of the 
proposed offer and will be requesting that the DfE consider an indemnity to cover any costs 
that are incurred as a result of any of these matters remaining unresolved. 

55. There is a risk that CDC’s favoured proposal for the building might not be viewed 
favourable by the planning authority. The business case development process will 
therefore review and assess the likelihood of this. 

 

 

 

Page 37



CONSULTATION 

56. As noted above, CDC has already begun a consultation with local industry and learning 
providers and will continue to do this whilst working through the wind-down arrangements. 
Consultation will include updates to Team Doncaster and consultation with the planning 
authority as and when needed.  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

57. Annex 1 – Due Regard Assessment  

 

GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 

58.  Below are the acronyms used in this report:   

• CDC – City of Doncaster Council   

• DFE – Department for Education 

• HS2 – High Speed Two  

• NCATI – National College for Advanced Transport and Infrastructure  

• NCHSR – National College for High Speed Rail  

 

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS  

Dani Adams | Senior Policy & Insight Manager 

01302 736414 | dani.adams@doncaster.gov.uk 

Claire Cardwell | Head of Skills 

01302 737196 | claire.cardwell@doncaster.gov.uk 

 

Riana Nelson,  

Director of Children, Young People and Families 

Page 38

mailto:dani.adams@doncaster.gov.uk
mailto:claire.cardwell@doncaster.gov.uk


2. The purpose of your proposal 6. RESULT OF STAGE 1 ASSESSMENT
(select yes or no for each purpose listed below) (select the type of impact your proposal will have on each of the following) (select the type of impact your proposal will have on each of the following) (select yes or no for each item listed below)

Impact on employees/

internal service delivery

Impact on residents/

external service delivery

Directorate: Children, Young People and Families To introduce a service, activity or policy: YES Neutral Age: Neutral Positive YES

Service Area: Education, Skills, Culture and Heritage To remove a service, activity or policy: NO Positive Disability: Neutral Neutral

Dani Adams To reduce a service or activity: NO Positive Gender Reassignment: Neutral Neutral Doncaster Council employees N/A

To increase a service or activity: YES Existing Service Users: Positive Homlessness & Rough sleepers: Neutral Neutral Doncaster residents N/A

To change a service, activity or policy: YES Marriage / Civil Partnership: Neutral Neutral Service Users N/A

To start charging for, or increase the charge for, a service or 

activity:
NO Pregnancy & Maternity: Neutral Neutral Protected Characteristics groups

Race: Neutral Neutral List evidence below and provide links where relevent
 

Is this activity on the Forward Plan Yes
Religion & Belief: Neutral Neutral

Date of decision /final report if relevent

(or best guess)

Cabinet 19/07/23
Sex: Neutral Neutral

Sexual Orientation: Neutral Neutral

Socio economic: Neutral Neutral

Veterans and teir Families: Neutral Neutral

Children in Care / leaving Care: Neutral Neutral

Take No Further Action

N/A

Taking into account all the answers you have 

provided through this Due Regard Statement 

initial Assessment you now need to:

We are taking over the running of an existing building, we will not be making any alterations / changes. This building has 

been in operation since 2017 and therefore has been built to be accesible for all. We do not anticipate that this will 

affect any protected characteristics. We do not believe that any action needs to be taken in this Due Regard assessment 

Due Regard Statement - Initial Assessment
1. Proposal Introduction

Provide a brief outline for your proposal and the overall aims/purpose for making this Change

Officer completing Assessment:

CDC to take on the running of the former NCATI building, once the freehold reverts to CDC by 

operation of law immediately following the surrender of the existing lease.

Employees within the Service/Directorate:

5. Use of Data & Intelligence

Did you seek specialist advice when developing your proposal?  (e.g. Finance; HR; IT)

Residents living in a specific ward/local area:

Residents across the Borough (most people):

3. Level of Impact

Do you have any evidence/intelligence to support your assessment, in sections 3 & 4, of the impact of your 

proposal on the following:

4. Level of Impact on Those who identify with a protected characteristic

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6. Biodiversity Net Gain and Habitat Banks.
	7. The future of the former National College for Advanced Transport and Infrastructure Building.
	i7 Copy of Annex 1 - Initial Due Regard Assessment (1)


